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•■ SUTD has established 16 research centres and labs, with the newest

centre being the Future Communications Connectivity Lab (FCCLab). 

The FCCLab was set up under the Future 
Communications R&D Programme to facilitate 

research on future generations of communications 

technologies. It is a 5G-enabled open Radio Access 
Network (RAN) testbed that can provide a 
platform for testing and optimising performance of 

different functional blocks. The testbed leverages 
open-source software and tools from the 
OpenAirlnterface™ (OAI) Software Alliance (OSA) 

and uses cloud-native software-defined RAN to 
support scalability, flexibility, reliability/resiliency, 
and cost-effectiveness. The testbed takes reference 

from the O-RAN reference architecture to enable 
support of RAN virtualisation, and application of 

machine learning and artificial intelligence in 

RAN optimisation. 

Integrated Partnership via Research 

The modular design of the testbed also provides 
flexibility of reconfiguring the RAN to 

different architectures. 

To date, SUTD has published more than 7,300 

papers in peer-reviewed journals, conference papers 

and books, and these papers were cited over 
144,000 times. The University has also secured more 
than $600 million in research funding from IMDA, 
SMI, CSA, Al Singapore and industry. We have 
fostered more than 1,300 industry partnerships, 
which provide our students with research, internship 

and employment opportunities. We have also filed 
over 440 technology disclosures, 255 patent 
applications and granted 36 patents. 

Focusing on application-driven and translational research 
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Trustees’ Statement

The Board of Trustees present their statement to the 
members together with the audited financial 
statementsof Singapore University of Technology 
and Design (the “University”) for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2023.

In the opinion of the Trustees:

a. the accompanying financial statements of the 
University as set out on pages 39 to 71 are drawn 
up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the University as at 31 March 2023, and 
the financial performance, changes in funds and 
reserves and cash flows of the University for the 
financial year then ended;

b. the University has complied with the requirements 
of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of 
Public Character) Regulations;

c. the use of donation monies are in accordance with 
the objectives of the University as required under 
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of Public 
Character) Regulations; and

d. at the date of this statement, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the University will be able 
to pay its debts when they fall due.

TRUSTEES

The Trustees of the University in office at the date of 
this statement are:

Mr Lee Tzu Yang (Chairman)
Dr Syed Fidah Bin Ismail Alsagoff
Mr Ramlee Bin Buang
Mr Robert Chew
Ms Deborah Lee
Ms Lim Wan Yong
Mr Lim Kang Song
Ms Low Sin Leng
Mr Quek Gim Pew
Ms Tan Min Lan
Mr Chng Kai Fong
Ms May Loh
Ms Cecilia Tan
Mr Tan Peng Yam
Mr Amit Midha

Report on the Audit of the Financial 

Statements

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of 
Singapore University of Technology and Design (the 
“University”), which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in funds and reserves 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies, as set out 
on pages 39 to 71.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial 
statements are properly drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 1967 (the “Act”), 
the Charities Act 1994 and other relevant regulations 
(the “Charities Act and Regulations”) and Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
the University as at 31 March 2023 and of the financial 
performance, changes in funds and reserves and cash 
flows of the University for the year ended on that 
date.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the University in 
accordance with the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct 
and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting 
Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Singapore, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Trustees’ Statement Independent Auditor’s Report To The 
Board Of Trustees Of Singapore 
University Of Technology And Design

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE TRUSTEES TO 

ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF ACQUISITION OF 

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time 
during the financial year did there subsist any 
arrangement whose object is to enable the Trustees 
of the University to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares or debentures in the University 
or any other body corporate.

TRUSTEES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND 

DEBENTURES

The University is limited by guarantee and does not 
have a share capital.

The Trustees of the University holding office at the 
end of the financial year had no interests in the share 
capital and debentures of the University’s related 
corporations as recorded in the register of director’s 
shareholdings kept by the University’s related 
corporations under Section 164 of the Companies 
Act 1967.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed 
their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Mr Lee Tzu Yang
Chairman

Trustee

Mr Ramlee Bin Buang

Trustee

27 July 2023

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

Management is responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the Trustees’ Statement set out on page 
36, but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND 

TRUSTEES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act, the 
Charities Act and Regulations and FRSs, and for 
devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; 
and transactions are properly authorised and that 
they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair financial statements and 
to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the University’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the 
University or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Trustees’ responsibilities include overseeing the 
University’s financial reporting process.

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we 
exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

a. Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

b. Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University’s internal control.

c. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.

d. Conclude on the appropriateness of 
management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the University’s ability to 

Independent Auditor’s Report To The 
Board Of Trustees Of Singapore 
University Of Technology And Design

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause 
the University to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

e. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Trustees regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 

REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records 
required by the Act to be kept by the University have 
been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act, and the Charities Act and Regulations.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to 
our attention that causes us to believe that during 
the year:

a. the University has not used the donation monies in 
accordance with its objectives as required under 
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a 
Public Character) Regulations; and

b. The University has not complied with the 
requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities 
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

27 July 2023

Statement Of Profit Or Loss 
And Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 March 2023

(100,076)

(1,637)

(9,791)

(35,221)

(1,122)

(6,724)

(50,036)

(14,492) (181,281) (173,242)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

General
Fund

Non-endowment
Fund

Endowment
Fund

Total

Note 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income

Tuition and other fees 3a

3a

Tuition and 
other fees, net

Donations and 
sponsorships

Other income 3b 

Total income

Less: Scholarship
expenses

35,034 35,417

(8,422) (9,555)

26,612 25,862

– –

12,753 12,161

39,365 38,023

– –

(671) (844)

(671) (844)

2,164 2,274

1 –

1,494 1,430

– –

(9,445) (8,138)

(9,445) (8,138)

– –

33 50

(9,412) (8,088)

35,034 35,417

(18,538) (18,537)

16,496 16,880

2,164 2,274

12,787 12,211

31,447 31,365

Expenses

Employee compensation

Programme-related
expenses

Research-related
expenses

Depreciation

Amortisation

Interest expense

Other operating
expenses

Total expenses

4

13

14

5

(102,509)

(1,935)

(12,061)

(32,733)

(1,559)

(6,450)

(46,530)

(203,777)

(164,412)

(96,530)

(1,637)

(9,791)

(35,214)

(1,122)

(6,724)

(45,763)

(196,781)

(158,758)

(190)

–

–

(25)

(2)

–

(1,646)

(1,863)

(369)

(362)

–

–

(7)

–

–

(1,053)

(1,422)

8

(3,036) 

–

–

(3) 

(1)

–

(4,048)

(16,500) 

(3,184)

–

 

 

 

–

(3,220)

(105,735)

(1,935)

(12,061)

(32,761)

(1,562)

(6,450)

(52,224)

(6,404) (212,728) (204,607)(7,088)

5,309 577 273 74 (71,461) 39,013 (65,879) 39,664

(159,103) (158,181) (96) 82 (87,961) 24,521 (247,160) (133,578)

181,754 184,442 (35) 15 (2) 25 181,717 184,482

22,651 26,261 (131) 97 (87,963) 24,546 (65,443) 50,904

(Deficit)/Surplus before 
investment income and
government grants

(Deficit)/Surplus before 
government grants

Net investment 
(loss)/income

6

Government and
other grants

Net surplus/(deficit) and 
total comprehensive 
income/(loss)

7

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Statement Of Financial Position
31 March 2023

Statement Of Changes 
In Funds And Reserves
Year ended 31 March 2023

Accumulated Surplus

Balance as at
1 April 2022
 

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the year

Government grants

Donations received

Balance as at
31 March 2023

 
 

 
 

Total comprehensive
income for the year

Government grants 21 

Donations received 21 

Balance as at
at 1 April 2021 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note Endowment
Fund

General
Fund

Non-endowment
Fund

Endowment
Fund 

Total

1,031,568 212,512 12,617 362,738 1,619,435

– 22,651 (131) (87,963) (65,443)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

21 8,797 – – 8,797

21 2,697 – – – 2,697

–

1,043,062 235,163 12,486 274,775 1,565,486

998,887 186,251 12,520 338,192 1,535,850

– 26,261 97 24,546 50,904

Balance as at
31 March 2022

20,526 – – – 20,526

12,155 – – – 12,155

1,031,568 212,512 12,617 362,738 1,619,435

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Grants and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Other current assets

ASSETS

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Non-Current Assets

Grants and other receivables

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Grants received in advance

Contract liabilities

Other payables

Borrowings

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings

Deferred capital grants

Grants received in advance

Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS

Endowment fund

Accumulated surplus:

- General fund

- Non-endowment fund

- Endowment fund

Funds’ Net Assets Managed on Behalf of 
Ministry of Education (“MOE”)

LIABILITIES

FUNDS AND RESERVES

Note 2023 2022

$’000 $’000

9 385,018 334,884

10 72,457 74,111

11 1,274,110 1,357,715

12  3,680 5,420

1,735,265 1,772,130

10 280,299 297,868

13 592,925 617,367

14 4,340 2,108

877,564 917,343

2,612,829 2,689,473

15

16

17

18

72,494 63,361

4,278 4,191

31,172 25,881

18,465 15,828

126,409 109,261

18 302,216 320,681

19 594,827 616,718

15 23,891 23,378

920,934 960,777

1,047,343 1,070,038

1,565,486 1,619,435

21 1,043,062 1,031,568

235,163 212,512

12,486 12,617

20 274,775 362,738

21 1,565,486 1,619,435

22 11,511 12,159

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Statement Of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 March 2023

Note 2023 2022

$’000

Operating activities

(133,578)
Adjustments for:
Deficit before government grants

- Depreciation 35,221

- Amortisation 1,122

- Loss allowance 3

- Interest expense 6,724

- Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

45

- Interest income

Operating cash flow before working capital changes

(4,387)

(35,277)

-
(130,127)

- Change in working capital:

- Other receivables

- Other current assets

- Contract liabilities

- Other payables

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment (Note A)

Additions to intangible assets

Investments in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Interest received (Note B)

Fixed deposits with maturity of more than 3 months

Net cash used in investing activities

- Fair value changes on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

$’000

(247,160)

32,761

1,562

50

6,450

139

(15,156)(15,828)

(11,781)

77,660

(140,319)

8,459 418

1,740 (909)

87 (42)

3,904 (7,399)

(126,129) (138,059)

(8,084) (11,739)

(2,766) (456)

10,654 (10,685)

5,670 4,506

(98,373) (28,722)

(92,899) (47,096)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement Of Cash Flows (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2023

Note 2023 2022

$’000

Financing activities

73,813Operating grants received

Research grants received 82,202

Debt grants received

Other grants received

Repayment of borrowings

-

$’000

66,572

60,869

(6,421)(6,465)Interest paid

Government grants and donations received for
endowment fund

27,763

Net cash from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

208,684

23,529

9 225,790

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

23,572

170,789

(48,239)

177,551

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 202,261225,790

37,217

4,852 11,527

34,956

Notes to Statement of Cash Flows:

Note A
During the year, the additions in property, plant and equipment amounted to $9,486,000 (2022 : $9,770,000), 
of which $791,000 (2022 : $194,000) was accrued by the University and $805,000 (2022 : $nil) was unpaid at 
the end of the reporting period. The cash outflow on acquisition of property, plant and equipment, net of 
donated assets (Note 13), amounted to $8,084,000 (2022 : $11,739,000).

Note B
During the year, total interest income amounted to $11,781,000 (2022 : $4,387,000) of which $1,657,000 (2022 
: $255,000) was unpaid at the end of the reporting period and presented under other receivables (Note 10). 
During the year, an amount of $4,970,000 (2022 : $3,435,000), which relates to interest income earned but 
not received, was reinvested into existing investments (Note 11).

Total cash inflows on interest amounted to $5,670,000 (2022 : $4,506,000).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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1. General

Singapore University of Technology and Design (the 
“University”) (Registration No. 200913519C) is 
incorporated and domiciled in Singapore as a 
University limited by guarantee under the provisions of 
the Companies Act 1967. The address of its registered 
office and principal place of business is located at 8 
Somapah Road, Singapore 487372.

The principal activities of the University are the 
advancement and dissemination of knowledge, the 
promotion of research and scholarships, and the 
conferring and awarding of degrees.

Under Clause 9 of the Memorandum of Association of 
the University, each member of the University 
undertakes to contribute a sum not exceeding $1 (2022 
: $1) to the assets of the University in the event of it 
being wound up. The number of members at the 
balance sheet date is 4 (2022 : 4).

These financial statements were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Trustees 
of Singapore University of Technology and Design on 
27 July 2023.

2. Summary Of Significant 

Accounting Policies

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

a.   Basis of accounting 

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost basis except 
otherwise disclosed in the accounting policies below, 
and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act 1967, the Charities Act 1994 and 
other relevant regulations and Financial Reporting 
Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”).

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 

2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the University takes into account 
the characteristics of the asset or liability which 
market participants would take into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these financial statements is determined 
on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that 
are within the scope of FRS 116 Leases, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair 
value but are not fair value, such as value in use in 
FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair 
value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety, which are described 
as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability.

b.   Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements of the University are 
measured and presented in Singapore dollars which 
is the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the University operates (its functional 
currency). 

All financial information presented in Singapore 
dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated.

c.   Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with FRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities and profit or loss. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

c.   Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 

Management is of the opinion that any instances of 
application of judgements are not expected to have 
a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below.

a.   Fair value estimation on other investments

The University holds other investments that are 
not traded in an active market. The University has 
used the net asset values provided by fund 
managers and fund administrators to recognise 
the fair value of such investments. The carrying 
amount of these other investments at the end of 
the reporting period was $317,483,000 (2022 : 
$328,327,000) (Note 11).

b.   Property, plant and equipment

The University reviews the residual values and 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment at 
each reporting date in accordance with the 
accounting policy in Note 2.8. The estimation of 
the residual values and useful lives involves 
significant judgement. The net book value of 
property, plant and equipment at 31 March 2023 is 
$592,925,000 (2022 : $617,367,000) (Note 13) 
and the annual depreciation charge for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2023 is $32,761,000 
(2022 : $35,221,000) (Note 13). If the actual useful 
lives of the property, plant and equipment are 
longer or shorter than the management’s 

estimate, the University annual depreciation 
charge will be decreased or increased accordingly.

2.2 FUNDS

a.   General fund 

General fund comprise surpluses from operational 
activities, commitments, planned expenditure and 
self-financing activities. It also includes funds set 
aside for specific purposes such as staff and student 
housing. The use of the reserves generated from 
surpluses from operational activities and those funds 
set aside for specific purposes is subject to the 
approval of the Board of Trustees.

Income and expenses related to the general fund are 
accounted for under the general fund in profit or loss.

b.   Non-endowment fund 

Donations and sponsorships from individuals and 
external bodies which are to be put to use for specific 
purposes specified by the donors are taken to 
non-endowment fund in profit or loss. 

Income and expenses relating to the fund are 
accounted for under non-endowment fund in profit 
or loss.

c.   Endowment fund

Donations and government matching grants, which 
are kept intact as capital, are directly taken to the 
endowment fund in the year in which such donations 
are received and government grants are granted. 

Income and expenses relating to the endowment 
fund are accounted for under endowment fund in 
profit or loss.

2.3 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured based on the consideration 
specified in a contract with a customer and excludes 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
The University recognises income when it transfers 
control of a product or when services is rendered to 
a customer.

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.3 REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)

a.   Tuition and other fees

Revenue from tuition and other fees comes from the 
provision of tuition services to undergraduate and 
postgraduate students over the academic period. 
It includes the provision of course and compulsory 
miscellaneous fee. Tuition and other fees are 
recognised as the courses are rendered as the 
performance obligation is satisfied over time. 
Payments received from students, for tuition and 
other fees which have not been rendered, is deferred 
and recognised as a contract liability until the courses 
have been rendered to the students. 

Scholarship expenses are accounted for as a discount 
against the tuition fees and set off against the fees to 
reflect the net consideration received from the 
students.

b.  Donations and sponsorships

Donations (in cash or in-kind) and sponsorships 
are recognised at the point in time when they are 
received/receivable.

c.  Housing income

Housing income is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the housing lease period.

d.  Rental income

Rental income from operating leases (net of any 
incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

e.  Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion 
basis using the effective interest method.

f.  Events and facilities income

Revenue from the usage of facilities, utilities, carpark 
and events management are recognised over the 
usage period.

2.4 GRANTS

Government grants in respect of the current year’s 
operating expenses are recognised as income in the 
same year. 

Other government grants are recognised as income 
over the period necessary to match the intended costs. 
Such grants which are received but not utilised are 
included in the grants received in advance account. 

Debt grant receivable is recognised for the purchase of 
property, plant and equipment when there is 
reasonable assurance that the University will comply 
with the government’s debt grant framework 
conditions and that the grants will be received. 

Government grants (including sinking fund) received or 
receivable for the purchase of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets are taken to the grants 
received in advance account. Upon utilisation of the 
grants for the purchase of assets, they are taken to the 
deferred capital grants account for the assets which are 
capitalised, or to profit or loss for the assets which are 
written off. 

Deferred capital grants are recognised in profit or loss 
over the periods necessary to match the depreciation 
or amortisation of the related assets purchased with the 
grants. Upon the disposal of the assets, the balance of 
the related deferred capital grants is recognised in 
profit or loss to match the net book value of the assets 
written off.

2.5 GRANTS DISBURSED TO MASSACHUSETTS 

INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY (“MIT”)

Grants disbursed in advance to MIT are initially taken to 
the prepayment account. Upon the utilisation of the 
grants, they are taken to profit or loss as 
programme-related or research-related expenses. 

Grants disbursed for the MIT endowment fund are 
taken to the prepayment account and subsequently to 
profit or loss as programme-related expenses on a 
straight-line basis over the endowment period. 

Interest income earned from the MIT endowment fund 
are taken to the prepayment account and subsequently 

Notes to the
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2. Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.5 GRANTS DISBURSED TO MASSACHUSETTS 

INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY (“MIT”) (CONTINUED)

charged to profit or loss over the periods necessary 
to match them with the intended costs.

2.6 EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

a.   Defined contribution plans

The University’s contributions to defined contribution 
plans are recognised as employee compensation 
expense when the contributions are due, unless they 
can be capitalised as an asset.

b.   Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are 
recognised when they accrue to employees. 
A provision is made for the estimated liability for 
annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the balance sheet date.

2.7 LEASES

Lessee

The University assesses whether a contract is or 
contains a lease, at inception of the contract. Where 
applicable, the University will recognise a right-of-use 
asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect 
to all leases arrangements in which it is the lessee, 
exception for leases that qualify for exemption under 
FRS 116. 

The University enters into lease agreements as a 
lessee with respect to photocopiers and other 
equipment. For these short-term leases (lease term 
of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets, 
the University adopted the recognition exemptions 
under FRS 116 and recognises the lease payments as 
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease unless another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are 
consumed.

Lessor

Leases for which the University is a lessor are classi-
fied as finance or operating leases. Whenever the 

terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract 
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carry-
ing amount of the leased asset and recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Donated assets are recognised at 
the valuation determined by valuers at the time of 
receipt of the assets. The cost of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and 
only if, it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the University 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
includes its purchase price and any cost that is 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. 

The construction-in-progress consists of 
construction costs and related expenses incurred 
during the period 
of construction. 

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant 
and equipment that has already been recognised is 
added to the carrying amount of the asset only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the University 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repair and maintenance expenses are 
recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Except for construction-in-progress which is not 
depreciated, depreciation on other property, plant 
and equipment is calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate their depreciable amounts over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Leasehold land
Buildings
Plant and machinery
Computer systems, 
communications and 
laboratory equipment
Personal computers and
equipment
Furniture and fittings
Audio visual and 
office equipment
Motor vehicle

Property, plant and equipment costing less than 
$3,000 (2022 : $2,000) each are taken to profit or 
loss when purchased. 

The residual values, estimated useful lives and 
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

On disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the difference between the disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is included in profit 
or loss.

2.9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer software licences costs

Acquired computer software licences are initially 
capitalised at cost which includes the purchase price 
(net of any discounts and rebates) and any other 
directly attributed cost of preparing the asset for its 
intended use. Direct expenditure, which enhances or 
extends the performance of computer software 
beyond its specifications and which can be reliably 
measured, is recognised as a capital improvement and 
added to the original cost of the software. Costs 
associated with maintaining the computer software are 
expensed off.

Capitalised computer software licences are 
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Estimated useful lives

99 years
30 years
10 years
5 to 6 years

3 years

7 years
5 to 8 years

10 years

These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 
three to five years. 

The amortisation period and amortisation method are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. 
The effects of any revision are recognised in profit or 
loss when the changes arise. 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or 
when no future economic benefit are expected from 
the use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from the 
recognition of an intangible asset, measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in the 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the University 
reviews the carrying amounts of the non-financial 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of 
the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, 
the University estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
are tested for impairment whenever there is any 
objective evidence or indication that these assets may 
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
The difference between the carrying amount and 
recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss in profit or loss.

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 
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2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 
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2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.12 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities represents tuition and housing 
fees received in advance for the next financial year 
(See Note 16). Payments received from students for 
tuition and housing fees in which the tuition and 
housing services have not been rendered are 
recognised as contract liabilities until the courses and 
housing services have been rendered to the students.

2.13 OTHER PAYABLES

Other payables represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to the University prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, 
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. 

Other payables are initially recognised at fair value, 
and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 

The University derecognises other payables when its 
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled 
or have expired. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the other payables derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit 
or loss.

2.14 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless 
the University has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the balance 
sheet date, in which case they are presented as 
non-current liabilities. 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net 
of transaction costs) and subsequently carried at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over 
the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method.

Notes to the
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2.15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of 
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand and deposits with financial institutions which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

2.16 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using 
the effective interest method except for those costs 
that are directly attributable to assets under 
construction. This includes those costs on 
borrowings acquired specifically for assets under 
construction, as well as those in relation to general 
borrowings used to assets under construction.

The actual borrowing costs incurred during the 
period up to the issuance of the temporary 
occupation permit are capitalised in the cost of the 
assets under construction.

2.17 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair values of financial instruments traded in 
active markets (such as exchange-traded and 
over-the-counter securities) are based on quoted 
market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted 
market prices used for financial assets are the current 
bid prices. 

The fair values of financial instruments that are not 
traded in an active market are determined with 
reference to the net asset value statements provided 
by the custodian/fund managers at each balance 
sheet date. 

The fair values of current financial assets and 
liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate 
their carrying amounts. 

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

2.18 PROVISION

Provisions are recognised when the University has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the University will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of  the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash 
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows 
when the effect of the time value of money is material. 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is 
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and 
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

2.19 SUBSIDIARY

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the 
University. The University controls an investee when 
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the investee.

3a. Income

Tuition and other fees

Less: Scholarship 
expenses

Tuition fees
Other student related fees

34,76134,377

Timing of revenue 
recognition

Over time 16,88016,496

657

(18,538) (18,537)

16,496 16,880

656

35,034 35,417

2023 2022

$’000$’000
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Less: Bank fixed deposits 
with maturity of more than 
3 months (i)

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

3a. Income (continued)

The aggregate amount of the transaction price 
allocated to performance obligations that are 
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) for services as at 
the end of the reporting period is $4,278,000 (2022 
: $4,191,000). Management expects that full amount 
will be recognised as revenue during the next 
reporting period.

3b. Other income

Key management personnel comprise the President, 
Provost, Vice President, Administration, Associate 
Provosts, Head of Pillars and key administrative 
Directors.

5. Other operating expenses

6. Net investment (loss)/income

4. Employee compensation

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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-

At point in time

Rental income
Conference and short courses

691553

Timing of revenue 
recognition

1,402

2,445 1,478

2,399

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Housing income 5,3556,406

Over time 10,0429,789

12,21112,787

Events and facilities
Others

8731,856
2,570 2,598

Wage credit 295–

Bank fixed deposits 260,519318,384

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 74,36566,634

225,790177,551

(109,094)(207,467)

334,884385,018

Scholarship and awards

Utilities and facility management 14,748

14,284 15,093

14,162

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Rental expense under 
operating leases

10998

Loss on disposal of 
property, plant and 
equipment and
intangible assets

45139

Others 6,4396,626

50,03652,224

1,4612,065
Information technology expenses
Travelling expenses and 
honorarium fees

2,4372,441Library books, periodicals 
and databases

8,094 6,928

Marketing and advertising 
expenses

3,3623,729

Fair value (losses)/gains on 
financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss

(77,660) 35,277

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Interest income 4,38711,781

39,664(65,879)

7. Government and other grants

7. Government and other grants 

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, included under 
other grants was an amount of $778,000, which the 
University has recognised as grant income under the Job 
Support Scheme (“JSS”). Under this scheme, the 
government provided wage support to employers, 
helping businesses retained their local employees 
(including Singapore citizens and permanent residents) 
during the economic uncertainty caused by COVID-19.

8. Income taxes

The University obtained Charity and Institution of 
Public Character (“IPC”) status on 21 July 2009 under 
the Charities Act and Charities (Institutions of a Public 
Character) Regulations 2008. With effect from the Year 
of Assessment 2009, all registered charities will enjoy 
automatic income tax exemption. 

The University is exempted from filing income tax returns. 
The University’s IPC status will expire on 20 July 2027.

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Research grants utilised 
(Note 10(iii))

63,171 57,083

Deferred capital grants 
amortised (Note 19)

32,862 34,925

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Operating grants (Note 10(ii)) 68,55268,867

Debt grants utilised (Note 10(iv)) 12,39511,956

Other grants 11,5274,861

184,482181,717

Employer’s contribution to 
Central Provident Fund

8,5428,913

Key management personnel 
compensation is as follows:

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Wages and salaries 91,14696,694

100,076105,735

Other benefits 388128

-

Employer’s contribution to 
Central Provident Fund

248279

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Wages and salaries 9,4149,856

9,72510,175

Other benefits 6340

Fee and other receivables 
(Note (i))

1,0291,709

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Current

2,9647,933Operating grants 
receivable (Note (ii))

20,64935,328Research grants 
receivable (Note (iii))

9571,587

(72)(122)Loss allowance (Note (i))

Debt grant receivable (Note (iv)) 297,868280,299

Non-current

371,979352,756
Total grants and other 
receivables

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Current 109,094207,467

The bank fixed deposits have a weighted average 
effective interest rate of 4.11% (2022 : 0.42%) 
per annum.

10. Grants and other receivables

i.   Bank fixed deposits with maturity of more 
     than 3 months:

23,11420,518Debt grant receivable (Note 
(iv)) 13,9611,863Matching endowment 
grant receivable

12,2113,380Other receivables from 
Government

–191Amount due from a 
subsidiary (Note 26)

2551,657Interest receivable

74,11172,457

i.   Fee and other receivables

The average credit period of fee and other 
receivables is 30 days (2022 : 30 days). No interest is 
charged on the outstanding balance. 

Loss allowance for fee and other receivables has 
been measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
The ECL on fee and other receivables are estimated 
by reference to past default experience of the debtor 
and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial 
position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry 
in which the debtors operate.

10. Grants and other receivables 

(continued)

i.   Fee and other receivables (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the University 
has recognised a loss allowance of $50,000 (2022 : 
$3,000) which is due to specific credit-impaired 
factors arising on the debtor. The University has 
assessed and noted immaterial loss allowance 
required for the remaining balances as historical 
experience has indicated that these receivables are 
generally recoverable. 

There has been no change in the estimation 
techniques or significant assumptions made during 
the current reporting period. 

The table below is an analysis of fee and other 
receivables as at 31 March:

3130 5554 FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

Cash and cash equivalents 
presented in the 
statement of cash flows



2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Past due and not impaired 589827

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Not past due and not impaired 368760

9571,587

Operating grants received 
during the year

(73,813)(66,572)

Transferred to deferred 
capital grants (Note 19)

40456

Transferred to profit 
or loss (Note 7)

68,55268,867

Balance as at 31 March (36,730)(33,979)

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Balance as at 1 April (31,509)(36,730)

Operating grants 
receivable (as above)

2,9647,933

Operating grants received in 
advance from Government - 
MIT Education Component 
(Note 15)

(1,278)–

Other operating grants 
received in advance - 
Government (Note 15)

(15,038)(18,021)

Sinking funds received 
in advance (Note 15)

(23,378)(23,891)

(36,730)(33,979)

Comprising:

Debt grant received 
during the year

(34,956)(37,217)

Transferred to deferred 
capital grants (Note 19)

5,8255,096

Transferred to profit 
or loss (Note 7)

12,39511,956

Balance as at 31 March 320,982300,817

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Balance as at 1 April 337,718320,982

Non-current

23,11420,518
280,299 297,868

300,817 320,982

Current

- Quoted debt securities 291,710310,733
- Quoted unit trusts 694,236607,839
- Quoted equity securities 43,44238,055
- Other investments 328,327317,483

1,357,7151,274,110

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Designated at fair value on 
initial recognition:

- Education Component 497–

- Research Component 1,418773
- Others 3,4532,713
Deposits 52194

5,4203,680

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Prepayments

Loss allowance recognised in 
profit or loss during the year
due to changes in credit risk

350

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Balance as at 1 April 6972

Balance as at 31 March

i.   Fee and other receivables

The average credit period of fee and other 
receivables is 30 days (2022 : 30 days). No interest is 
charged on the outstanding balance. 

Loss allowance for fee and other receivables has 
been measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. 
The ECL on fee and other receivables are estimated 
by reference to past default experience of the debtor 
and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial 
position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry 
in which the debtors operate.

10. Grants and other receivables 

(continued)

i.   Fee and other receivables (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the University 
has recognised a loss allowance of $50,000 (2022 : 
$3,000) which is due to specific credit-impaired 
factors arising on the debtor. The University has 
assessed and noted immaterial loss allowance 
required for the remaining balances as historical 
experience has indicated that these receivables are 
generally recoverable. 

There has been no change in the estimation 
techniques or significant assumptions made during 
the current reporting period. 

The table below is an analysis of fee and other 
receivables as at 31 March:

The debt grant receivable relates to funding from the 
Government to finance the bank loans utilised for 
land premium, construction cost of the East Coast 
Campus and the purchase of furniture and 
equipment, information technology equipment and 
systems that falls under the debt-grant framework 
initiated by the Government. The debt grant 
receivable earns additional grants at variable rates 
determined by Ministry of Education based on 
Ministry of Finance’s preferential rate, and the 
carrying value approximates to its fair value at the 
balance sheet date.

11. Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss

The Board of Trustees has an Investment Committee 
to assist in the oversight of the University’s 
investments. The Investment Committee approves 
the asset allocation, selection of fund managers and 
all other investment activities. The selected fund 
managers and internal investment office have to 
manage the investment portfolio within the 
prescribed individual mandates and investment 
guidelines.

12. Other current assets

ii.   Movement in operating grants received in 
advance

Research grants received 
during the year

(82,202)(60,869)

Transferred to deferred 
capital grants (Note 19)

3,3225,265

Transferred to profit 
or loss (Note 7)

57,08363,171

Balance as at 31 March (26,349)(18,782)

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Balance as at 1 April (4,552)(26,349)

Research grants 
receivable (as above)

20,64935,328

Research grants received in 
advance from Government - 
MIT Research Component 
(Note 15)

(703)–

Other research grants 
received in advance - 
Government (Note 15)

(29,342)(36,867)

Research grants received in 
advance - Government
agencies and others (Note 15)

(16,953)(17,243)

(26,349)(18,782)

Comprising:

iii.   Movement in research grants received in 
advance

The movement in the credit loss allowance in respect 
of fee and other receivables is as follows:

72122
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10. Grants and other receivables 

(continued)

iv.   Movement in debt grant receivable
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2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Constru
ctio

n-in-

progress

Leasehold land

Buildings a
nd plant 

and machinery

Computer sy
ste

ms, c
ommunicatio

ns

and laboratory equipment

$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000

Balance as at
1 April 2022 

76,935569,690209,7181,508

Additions 6,715

6,574

615

7,714

4

11,214

838

195

–

883,548

9,4861,106–208
Reclassification 162 (162) – – – ––––

Disposals (1,296) (358) (28) (755) – (2,461)(24)––

Balance as at 
31 March 2023 82,627 6,669 7,690 11,297 195 889,443570,772209,718475

Balance as at 
31 March 2023 67,345 5,632 7,536 9,285 104 296,518182,43224,184–

Reclassified 
(to)/from intangible 
assets (Note 14)

111 – – – – (1,130)––(1,241)

Cost

Balance as at
1 April 2022 

61,726160,12622,066–

Depreciation charge 6,895

5,218

766

7,485

77

9,476

563

84

20

266,181

32,76122,3222,118–

Disposals (1,276) (352) (26) (754) – (2,424)(16)––

Balance as at 
31 March 2023 15,282 1,037 154 2,012 91 592,925388,340185,534475

Carrying amount

Accumulated depreciation

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

13. Property, plant and equipment

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

As at 31 March 2023, the right-of-use asset relating to the University’s leasehold land has a carrying amount of 
$185,534,000 (2022 : $187,652,000) included under property, plant and equipment.

Perso
nal computers

and equipment

Furniture and fit
tings

Audio visu
al and 

offic
e equipment

Motor vehicle

Total Constru
ctio

n-in-

progress

Leasehold land

Buildings a
nd plant 

and machinery

Computer sy
ste

ms, c
ommunicatio

ns

and laboratory equipment

$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000$’000

Balance as at
1 April 2021

72,356566,977209,7181,352

Additions 4,698

5,907

779

7,717

4

10,282

1,001

195

–

874,504

9,7701,853–1,435

Reclassification 342 – – – – –902–(1,244)

Disposals (461) (112) (7) (69) – (691)(42)––

Balance as at 
31 March 2022 76,935 6,574 7,714 11,214 195 883,548569,690209,7181,508

Balance as at 
31 March 2022 61,726 5,218 7,485 9,476 84 266,181160,12622,066–

Reclassified to 
intangible assets 
(Note 14)

– – – – – (35)––(35)

Cost

Balance as at
1 April 2021 

54,071137,27719,948–

Depreciation charge 8,112

4,611

719

6,679

813

8,959

586

65

19

231,610

35,22122,8542,118–

Disposals (457) (112) (7) (69) – (650)(5)––

Balance as at 
31 March 2022 15,209 1,356 229 1,738 111 617,367409,564187,6521,508

Carrying amount

Accumulated depreciation

13. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Perso
nal computers

and equipment

Furniture and fit
tings

Audio visu
al and 

offic
e equipment

Motor vehicle

Total
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2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cost
Balance as at 1 April 12,74113,108
Additions 4562,766
Reclassified from property, 
plant and equipment (Note 13)

351,130

Disposals

Balance as at 31 March

(124)(1,764)

13,10815,240

Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at 1 April 9,99811,000
Amortisation 1,1221,562
Disposals (120)(1,662)

Balance as at 31 March

Carrying Amount

11,00010,900

2,1084,340

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Computer software 
licenses costs

Other payables 6,2807,417
Payables for capital expenditure –805
Accruals for:
- Operating expenses 19,40722,159
- Capital expenditure 194791

25,88131,172

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Balance as at 1 April 641,871616,718

40456
Transferred from:
- Operating grants (Note 10(ii))
- Research grants (Note 10(iii)) 3,3225,265
- Debt grant (Note 10(iv)) 5,8255,096
- Skills future set up grant 585154
Amortisation of deferred 
capital grants (Note 7)

(34,925)(32,862)

Balance as at 31 March 616,718594,827

2023 2022

$’000$’000

Fixed rate - unsecured 336,509320,681

2023 2022

$’000$’000

14. Intangible assets

Other operating grants 
received in advance
Government (Note 10(ii))

15,03818,021

1,278–

Sinking fund received 
in advance (Note 10(ii))

23,37823,891

Research grants received in 
advance from Government
MIT Research Component 
(Note 10(iii))

703–

Other research grants 
received in advance -
Government (Note 10(iii))

29,34236,867

Research grants received 
in advance - Government 
agencies and others 
(Note 10(iii))

16,95317,243

Matching grants payable 20–

Other grants received in 
advance

27363

86,739

72,494
23,891

96,385

63,361
23,378

86,739

96,385

2023 2022

$’000$’000

15. Grants received in advance

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

Operating grants received in 
advance from Government
MIT Education Component 
(Note 10(ii))

The balances in these accounts represent grants 
received but not utilised at the end of the financial year.

16. Contract liabilities

This relates to the consideration received in advance 
for tuition and housing services. 

Services are paid upfront as part of the initial sales 
transaction whereas revenue is recognised over the 
period when services are provided to the customer. 
A contract liability is recognised for revenue relating 
to tuition and housing services at the time of the 
initial sales transaction and is recognised to the profit 
or loss over the service period. 

16. Contract liabilities (continued)

There were no significant changes in the contract 
liability balances during the reporting period. 

The amount of revenue recognised in the current 
reporting period which relates to brought forward 
contract liabilities is $4,191,000 (2022 : $4,233,000).

17. Other payables

Bank borrowings

Current 15,82818,465
Non-current 320,681302,216

336,509320,681

2023 2022

$’000$’000

18. Borrowings

The profile of the bank borrowings at the balance 
sheet date are as follows:

Under the debt-grant framework initiated by the 
Government, the University has drawn down bank 
loans to finance the land premium, construction of 
the East Coast Campus and the purchase of furniture 
and equipment, information technology equipment 
and systems. 

As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the non-current 
borrowings is $248,483,000 (2022 : $282,150,000). 
The fair value is determined from the cash flow 
analysis, discounted at market borrowing rates 
ranging from 4.12% to 4.53% (2022 : 3.34% to 3.45%) 
per annum based on the tenure of the loan.

19. Deferred capital grants

Accumulated surplus 12,61712,486

12,74313,785
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants and other receivables 46–

Property, plant, and equipment 65420
Intangible assets –3
Other payables (237)(1,722)

12,61712,486

2023 2022

$’000$’000

20. Non-endowment fund
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2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

20,87334,331
Represented by:
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants and other receivables 17,16410,834
Property, plant, and equipment 4311
Intangible assets 64

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

1,357,7151,274,110

Grants received in advance (20)–

Other payables (1,475)(1,453)

1,394,3061,317,837

2023 2022

$’000$’000

21. Endowment fund

The objectives of this fund include the advancement 
and dissemination of knowledge, the promotion of 
research and awarding of scholarships. 

Donations from external parties and government 
matching grants which are to be kept intact as capital 
of $2,697,000 (2022 : $12,155,000) and $8,797,000 
(2022 : $20,526,000) respectively, are taken directly 
to endowment fund - capital during the current 
financial year.

22. Funds’ net assets managed on 

behalf of Ministry of Education 

(“MOE”)

Pursuant to the MOE Tuition Fee Loan (“TFL”) and 
Study Loan (“SL”) schemes, the University acts as 
agent for these loans schemes and the MOE is the 
financier providing the advances.

Student tuition fee and study loans are unsecured, 
interest-free during the course of study and are 
repayable by monthly instalments over period of up 
to 20 years after the students’ graduation. Interest is 
charged based on the average of the prevailing prime 
rates of the 3 local banks. The interest rate as at the 
end of reporting period is 4.75% (2022 : 4.75%) 
per annum.

23. Commitments

a.   Lessee - Operating lease commitments

The University leases plant and machinery under a 
non-cancellable operating lease agreement. 

The lease expenditure during the financial year is 
as follows:

23. Commitments (continued)

b.   Lessor - Operating lease commitments

The University leases campus space to 
non-related parties under non-cancellable operating 
lease agreements. 

Operating leases, in which the University, is the 
lessor, relate to premises owned by the University 
with lease terms of 1 to 3 years. For leases with 
extension options, the extension option is 1 to 3 years. 
All operating lease contracts contain market review 
clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its 
option to renew. The lessee does not have an option 
to purchase the premises at the expiry of the lease 
period. 

Maturity analysis of operating lease payments:

c.  Collaboration agreement with Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology (“MIT”)

The University has entered into a collaboration 
agreement with the MIT on 25 January 2010 to 
establish a deep and extensive relationship between 
MIT and the University for the furtherance of the 
highest international standards and innovation in 
education and research. The SUTD-MIT Collaboration 
Agreement comprises two components, 
an Education Component and a Research 
Component. 

Under the Education Component, MIT will provide its 
assistance, advice and sharing of its academic and 
administrative expertise to help shape the University 
into a world class educational institution. In addition, 
MIT will establish an endowment fund for which 
income generated will be used for the furtherance of 
the objective of the education component. The 
Education collaboration has been successfully 
completed on 30 June 2017. 

836,167844,964
195,401198,098

1,031,5681,043,062
362,738274,775

1,394,3061,317,837
11,07410,591

Represented by:
TFL receivables
SL receivables 1,085920

Net assets 12,15911,511

2023 2022

$’000$’000

3,1272,941
14,90512,159

(5,873)(3,589)

12,15911,511

Year 1
Year 2
Year 3

2023 2022

$’000$’000

24353
268417

1664

308834

2023 2022

$’000$’000

10998

2023 2022

$’000$’000

13,70710,019
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The Research Component involves a collaborative 
effort between MIT and the University to establish 
and develop the SUTD-MIT International Design 
Centre, which will be a Centre comprising one 
primary physical location sited within the University 
campus and one secondary physical location sited 
within MIT’s campus, for the MIT and University 
faculties to conduct research and other research 
related activities in furtherance of the educational 
and research objectives of the University. 
The Research collaboration has been successfully 
completed on 30 June 2022. 

Under the SUTD-MIT Collaboration Agreement, the 
University is required to make payments relating to 
the Education Undergraduate and Graduate 
Component up to 30 June 2017 and 28 February 2018 
respectively. For Research Component, payment was 
made up to 30 June 2022. 

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the research 
expenses incurred and taken up by SUTD was 
$330,000.

d.   Collaboration agreement with Zhejiang 
University

The University has entered into a collaboration 
agreement with Zhejiang University (“ZJU”) since 26 
August 2010 with the intention to develop and offer 
courses at the University and to jointly undertake 
research activities and other collaborative activities. 

Under the SUTD-ZJU Collaboration Agreement, the 
University is required to contribute to the 
collaboration up to December 2023. 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2023 and 
2022, no operating expenses pertaining to the 
collaboration was incurred.

e.   Capital commitments

Capital expenditures contracted for the balance 
sheet date but not recognised in the financial 
statements are as follows:
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Capital:
- Government grants
- Donations

Accumulated surplus

Balance as at 1 April
Student loan granted to students
Repayments received from 
students

Balance as at 31 March

Expense relating to leases of 
low-value assets, excluding 
short-term leases of low 
value assets

Property, plant and 
equipment



2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

a.   Market risk (continued)

ii.   Interest rate risk (continued)

The University’s investments in financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss as at 31 March 2023 
include interest-bearing debt instruments amounting 
to $374,376,000 (2022 : $423,444,000) which are 
exposed to interest rate risk. Changes in interest 
rates will have an impact on the fair values of these 
investments. With all other variables held constant, 
50 (2022 : 50) basis points increase/decrease in 
interest rates will result in approximately $9,239,000 
(2022 : $10,008,000) decrease/increase in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and the net surplus.

iii.   Price risk

The University is exposed to price risk arising from 
the investments, invested either directly or through 
externally managed funds. To manage this risk, the 
University diversifies its investment portfolio across 
different markets in accordance with the investment 
guidelines set by the Investment Committee. If prices for quoted unit trusts, quoted equity 

securities and other investments had 
increased/decreased by 5% (2022 : 5%), with all other 
variables held constant, it will result in a $32,103,000 
increase/decrease (2022 : $37,423,000) in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and the net surplus.

24. Related parties transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has 
the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and operating decisions. 

The University receives grants from the MOE to fund 
its operations and is subject to certain controls set by 
MOE and considers MOE a related party. Hence, 
other government-controlled entities are considered 
related parties of the University. The University has 
applied the exemption from disclosure requirements 
of FRS 24 in relation to related party transactions and 
outstanding balances (including commitments) with 
MOE and other government-controlled entities. 

The University has significant transactions with MOE 
and other government-controlled entities in the form 
of purchase of goods and services and rendering of 
services. Such purchases and sales are collectively 
approximate to $608,000 (2022 : $311,000) and 
$6,516,000 (2022 : $708,000) respectively.

25. Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The University’s activities expose it to market risk 
(including currency risk, interest rate risk and price 
risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. 

The Board of Trustees has the Finance and 
Investment Committees to assist the Board in setting 
the objectives and underlying principles of financial 
risk management for the University. Financial risk is 
reviewed by the Finance and Investment 
Committees. The Investment Office assists in the 
implementation and management of the investment 
portfolio within the prescribed investment guidelines 
and mandates. The information presented below is 
based on information received by the Finance and 
Investment Committees.

a.   Market risk

i.   Currency risk

The University’s operations are not exposed to 
significant currency risk as most of its transactions 
are transacted or invested in Singapore Dollar 
(“SGD”) except for its investment portfolio. The 
currency risk related to the United States Dollar 
payments to MIT under the SUTD-MIT Collaboration 
Agreement is borne by MOE.

The University’s currency profile from its investment 

Currency derivatives are entered into by the fund 
manager to manage the foreign currency risk 
exposure of the University’s investment portfolio. The 
currency profile above has taken into consideration 
the effects of currency forwards. 

At 31 March 2023, if foreign currencies (i.e. currencies 
other than those denominated in SGD) had 
strengthened/weakened by 3% (2022 : 3%) against 
the SGD with all other variables being held constant, 
it will result in a $20,157,000 increase/decrease in the 
net surplus (2022 : $21,505,000 increase/decrease in 
the net surplus).

ii.   Interest rate risk

The University has interest-bearing assets in cash and 
cash equivalents. These financial assets are 
short-term in nature, therefore, any future variations 
in interest rates will not have a material impact on the 
income of the University. 

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

- SGD
- Non-SGD

Total

2023 2022

$’000$’000

640,879602,213
716,836671,897

1,357,7151,274,110

By geographical area

Singapore
Asia Pacific (excluding Singapore)

Total

2023 2022

%%

3639
1819

Europe 97
United States and Latin America 3533
Middle East and Africa 22

100100

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
31 March 2023

Financial assets
at fair value through

profit or loss

The University is exposed to price risk arising from 
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
The geographical information of the investment 
portfolio comprising quoted debt securities, quoted 
unit trusts (based on geographical area of underlying 
securities), quoted equity securities and other 
investments provided to key management is 
as follows:

25. Financial risk management (continued)
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2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(CONTINUED)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised 
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
on the statement of financial position when the 
University becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially 
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

a.   Classification of financial assets

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and bank 
balances and trade and other receivables that meet the 
following conditions and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions 
are subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial 
assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Despite the aforegoing, the University may make the 
following irrevocable election/ designation at initial 
recognition of a financial asset:

• the University may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met; and

• the University may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

For financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid 
or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying 
amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial 
assets, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows, including expected credit losses, to the 
amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition. 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

a.   Classification of financial assets (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount 
at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances 
when the effect of discounting is immaterial. For 
financial instruments other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 
financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 
assets that have subsequently become 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired 
financial instrument improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is 
included in the "net investment income" line item.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:

• investments in equity instruments are classified as 
at FVTPL, unless the University designates an 
equity investment that is neither held for trading 
nor a contingent consideration arising from a 
business combination as at FVTOCI on 
initial recognition.

• debt instruments that do not meet the amortised 
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as 
at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet 
either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI 
criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial 
recognition if such designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring 
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and 
losses on them on different bases. The University 
has designated their quoted debt instruments as 
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as 
at each reporting date, with any fair value gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are 
not part of a designated hedging relationship. The net 
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any 
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is 
included in the “net investment income” line item (Note 
6). Fair value is determined in the manner described in 
Note 2.17.

b.   Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are 
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that 
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate as at 
each reporting date. Specifically,

• for financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not part of a designated hedging relationship, 
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss 
in the “other operating expenses” line item; and

• for financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not 
part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange 
differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the “net investment income” line item.

c.   Impairment of financial assets

The University recognises a loss allowance for expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) on grants and other receivables 
and deposits. The amount of expected credit losses is 
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in 
credit risk since initial recognition of the respective 
financial instrument. 

The University always recognises lifetime ECL for 
grants and other receivables. The expected credit 
losses on 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

these financial assets are estimated using a provision 
matrix based on the University’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to 
the debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the University 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on 
the financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the University 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be 
recognised is based on significant increases in the 
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial 
recognition instead of on evidence of a financial 
asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or 
an actual default occurring. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses 
that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In 
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of 
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default 
events on a financial instrument that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the University compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at 
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the 
University considers historical loss rates for each 
category of customers and adjusts to reflect current 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

The University presumes that the credit risk on a 
financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 
30 days past due, unless the University has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

The University assumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to 
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the 
financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash 
flow obligations. 

The University regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
dentifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The University considers that default has occurred 
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the University has reasonable and supportable 
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default 
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Write-off policy

The University writes off a financial asset when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be 
subject to enforcement activities under 
the University’s 

2.11 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

c.   Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy (continued)

recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit 
losses

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the University in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the University expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. 

If the University has measured the loss allowance for 
a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines 
at the current reporting date that the conditions for 
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the University 
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 
12-month ECL at the current reporting date.

d.  Derecognition of financial assets

The University derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the 
University neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, the University 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If 
the University retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the University continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing 
for the proceeds received. 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at 
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

25. Financial risk management (continued)

b.   Liquidity risk

There is minimal liquidity risk as the University maintains an adequate level of highly liquid assets in the form 
of cash and short-term bank deposits. 

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the University into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period from the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their 
carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant. 

*In the financial year ended 31 March 2022, a bank loan facility was extended by the University to November 2033.

c.   Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
University. The University places its cash and short-term bank deposits with reputable financial institutions. 
The investment portfolio is managed by a professional fund manager and in-house investment team. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to perform their obligations in 
relation to each class of recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the 
balance sheet. 

The University’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Less than
1 year

Between 1
and 2 years

Between 2
and 5 years

Category Description Basis for recognising
expected credit losses (“ECL”)

Net carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Gross carrying
amount

12-month or 
lifetime ECL

Internal
credit rating

Note

Over
5 years

$’000 $’000 $’000

$’000$’000$’000

$’000

At 31 March 2023

Other payables

Borrowings

At 31 March 2022

Other payables

Borrowings

31,172 – – –

25,588 21,680 63,635 263,999

25,881 – – –

22,317 25,588 64,586 284,728
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25. Financial risk management (continued)

c.   Credit risk (continued)

The table below details the credit quality of the University’s financial assets as well as maximumexposure to 
credit risk by credit risk rating grades:

Performing

Doubtful

In default

Write-off

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired

Lifetime ECL - 
credit-impaired

Amount is written off

The counterparty has low risk of default and does not have 
any past-due amounts.

Amount is >30 days past due or there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Amount is >90 days past due or there is evidence indicating 
the asset is credit-impaired.

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the University has no realistic 
prospect of recovery.

2023

Fees and other
receivables

1,709 (122)

(122)

1,58710 (i) Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

Grants and other
receivables (excluding
fees and other receivables)

351,169 – 351,16910 (ii) Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

Deposits 194 – 19412 Performing 12-month
ECL
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25. Financial risk management (continued)

c.   Credit risk (continued)

Net carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Gross carrying
amount

12-month or
lifetime ECL

Internal
credit rating

Note $’000$’000$’000

2022

Fees and other
receivables

1,029 (72)

(72)

95710 (i) Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

TotalLevel 3Level 2Level 1

At 31 March 2023

Grants and other
receivables (excluding
fees and other receivables)

371,022 – 371,02210 (ii) Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

Deposits 52 – 5212 Performing 12-month
ECL

i. The University determines the expected credit losses on these items by estimating based on historical 
credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect 
current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions.

ii. Grant and other receivables (excluding fees and other receivables) are mainly due from the Singapore 
Government and other Singapore Government agencies which are of good credit rating standing. 
Therefore, the credit risk exposure of these grants and other receivables (excluding fee and other 
receivables) is insignificant and is subject to immaterial credit loss. 

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and is subject to immaterial credit loss.

d.  Capital risk

The University is limited by guarantee with no share capital and is funded mainly by grants received from 
the Ministry of Education. 

The University is in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years 
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

e.  Fair value measurement

The University classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Notes to the
Financial Statements (continued)
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25. Financial risk management (continued)

e.  Fair value measurement (continued)

i. quoted prices (unadjusted) from active markets for identical assets (Level 1);

ii. inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

iii. inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments measured and carried at fair value and classified 
by level of fair value measurement hierarchy:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance 
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the University is the current bid price. 
These instruments are included in Level 1. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (unlisted unit trusts and other 
investments) is based on price quotes by the brokers. These instruments are classified as Level 2. Under 
certain circumstances, where a valuation technique for these instruments is based on significant unobservable 
inputs, such instruments are classified as Level 3.

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

- Quoted debt securities – – 310,733

- Quoted unit trusts 485,894 – 607,839
- Quoted equity securities – – 38,055
- Other investments 148,961

310,733

121,945
38,055

– 168,522 317,483

Total Assets 634,855470,733 168,522 1,274,110

At 31 March 2022

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

- Quoted debt securities – – 291,710

- Quoted unit trusts 543,067 – 694,236
- Quoted equity securities – – 43,442
- Other investments 178,911

291,710

151,169
43,442

– 149,416 328,327

Total Assets 721,978486,321 149,416 1,357,715

$’000$’000$’000$’000



Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

Total (losses)/gains 
recognised in profit or loss
for assets held at the end 
of financial year

Balance as at 1 April
Purchases

95,266149,416

19,709(9,374)

32,548 41,854

Redemptions (4,068) (7,413)

Fair value (losses)/gains 
recognised in profit or loss

(9,374) 19,709

Balance as at 31 March 168,522 149,416

2023

Name of subsidiary
Country of

incorporation
Principal
activities

Proportion of
ownership interest

2022

$’000$’000
Financial assets at 
amortised cost

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

706,915737,968

SUTD Venture Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore Investment holding –100

1,274,110 1,357,715

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost

351,853 362,390

2023 2022

$’000$’000

%%
20222023
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25. Financial risk management 

(continued)

e.  Fair value measurement (continued)

There were no significant transfers between Level 1 
and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in the period. 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 
instruments:

27. Charity Act and Regulations

As required for disclosure under Regulation 17 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations, 
the University has received total tax deductible donations of $5,022,000 (2022 : $13,268,000) in the current 
financial year.

28. Adoption of new and revised standards

On 1 April 2022, the University has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT 
FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised 
FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the University’s accounting policies and has no material 
effects on the amounts reported for the current or prior years. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new/revised FRSs and amendments 
to FRSs that are relevant to the University were issued but not effective:

• Amendments to FRS 1 and FRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies (1) 

• Amendments to FRS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates (1)

• Amendments to FRS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (2) 

• Amendments to FRS 1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (2) 

• Amendments to FRS 116: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (2) 

(1) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

(2) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 

Based on preliminary assessment, the University anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs and 
amendments to FRSs in future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
University in the period of their initial adoption.

26. Investment in subsidiary

The carrying amount of current grants and other 
receivables, deposits and other payables 
approximate their fair value. The fair values of 
non-current grant receivable and borrowings are 
disclosed in Notes 10(iv) and 18 respectively.

f.  Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of the different categories of 
financial instruments are as follows:

The financial statements of SUTD Venture Holdings Pte Ltd with a paid-up capital of $2 (2022 : $nil) have 
not been consolidated with the University's financial statements as the University is of the view that the 
subsidiary is not material to the University. The balances and transactions of the University are not affected 
by the non-consolidation.
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